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To the Puget Sound Pilots’ Association, which has
 
provided safe passage through Northwest waterways
 
for ships, their passengers, and their crews since 1935.
 
They take care of their own—never more so than in their
 
long search for the old man who was a pilot on the
 
Sound for more than forty years. He guided hundreds
 
of ships safely into port; when he himself was lost, the
 
Puget Sound pilots were the first to sound the alarm.





Preface

Most of us have made decisions that we wish we could go back and change. Sometimes it is for something we have done and then again, we may regret something we should have done and didn’t. “Conscience doth make cowards of us all,” Shakespeare once wrote, and like scores of the Bard’s quotes that have stood the test of time, this is as true today as it was hundreds of years ago. Even if we are the only ones who know our secrets, that little voice inside reminds us. That nagging voice brings back memories that are painful to people who have empathy for others’ feelings and who do have consciences. But not everyone does. For some, yesterday is gone and entirely forgettable, the slate is wiped clean, and they never look back. Some of the most horrifying crimes I have ever chronicled were committed by people for whom another’s life is no more important than that of a flea or a crushed rose.

In No Regrets, I write about a number of murderers who didn’t feel at all sorry for what they did to further their own purposes, but I also tell some heart-wrenching stories of people who had profound regret. They could technically be called killers, although I believe they suffered more than their “victims.” There are even a few cases here where one might say the so-called victims reaped grim rewards they deserved. Over the many years I have written about actual criminal cases, I have learned that there is nothing about any homicide that can be taken for granted. Just as human behavior is unpredictable, so are the many views of each murder. Like snowflakes, no two cases are just alike, and some are shockingly unique.

I have written more than a thousand articles and twenty-six books about murder. I have never forgotten any of them, although I must admit that sometimes names escape me. This is Volume 11 of my Crime Files series. Only those stories that have stood the test of time make the cut when I’m selecting cases.

That is true for “The Sea Captain,” the book-length case that comes first, and for all the shorter cases that follow:

“It (Ain’t) Hard Out There for the Pimps,” “The Runaway and the Soldier,” “The Tragic Ending of a Bank Robber’s Fantasy,” “A Very Bad Christmas,” “To Save Their Souls,” and “. . . Or We’ll Kill You.”

A few of these cases reduced me to tears, and, frankly, some frightened me. Even though a number of years have passed since I first heard their details played out in courtrooms, it hasn’t been easy to live through them again. My own emotional reactions came tumbling back as I visited them once more, surprising me with their intensity. There are other cases here that I knew of, but had never before researched or written. And one came to me through an email after I had already started writing this book.

In the end, there were myriad motivations that sparked murder: greed, lust, jealousy, naked masochism, fulfillment of fantasy, insanity, and—strangely—even love.



The Sea Captain


Sometimes it takes a hundred years or more for a true story to be told and retold so often that it is eventually tinged with enough rumors and unsubstantiated “facts” to make it barely distinguishable from fiction. Long-ago murder cases have been transformed into ghost stories, and real homicides become folk tales, both categories so often repeated that it’s hard to know what to believe. A very few move rapidly into the folklore category. The case that follows is one of those. It isn’t that old in years, but the bizarre circumstances of the case made it prime material for half-truth/half-fiction: the identities of the victim and the purported killer, the isolated location of the crime, the modus operandi, and the lingering mystery that continues to this day.

Although there is nothing vaguely humorous about the disappearance of eighty-year-old ship’s marine pilot Captain Rolf Neslund, his vanishing into the mists of Washington State’s Lopez Island in the Strait of Juan de Fuca is the stuff of urban legend. Some people found this story comical, while others were sickened by the rumors of what might have happened.

Rolf Neslund made headlines several times in his long life, and he had more close friends than most men. He appeared to be utterly indestructible: a man who would go on forever—the kind of guy who would surely appear one day in his local newspaper blowing out a hundred candles on a birthday cake. But if Captain Rolf is blowing out enough candles to start a fire, he isn’t doing it on Lopez Island.

For all of his life, Rolf Neslund had been extraordinarily lucky, escaping death or serious injury any number of times. It would seem that he had paid his dues in life and certainly deserved the quiet pastoral life he enjoyed in his eighth decade.

No one knows for sure where Rolf is, although a court of law has ruled that he is, indeed, dead. And well he may be, possibly from homicidal violence.



One

Even his actual birthdate has a sense of mystery about it. However, most people agree that Rolf Neslund was born at the turn of the twentieth century on November 3, 1900, in Konigsborg, Norway, far away from Lopez Island. His family’s business was in shipping, and Rolf was one of three sons: Harald, Erling, and Rolf. There was a single sister—Eugenie. Any formal schooling for him was abbreviated, taking a backseat to his craving for adventure. Rolf, a strong, handsome kid who appeared older than he was, ran away to sea at the age of fourteen.

He soon found a job on a brigantine trader named Staatsraad Ericksen. He stayed for six months—until the ocean began to feel more like work than a place for excitement. The young teen ran away again, leaving the Staatraad Ericksen behind. Although he was devoted to his family, he felt that he should go to America if he was ever to make his fortune. He had an aunt living on Long Island, and figured he could live with her until he saved enough to support himself.

Rolf stowed away on a passenger ship full of Norwegian immigrants and managed to lose himself in the crowd. But immigration authorities on Ellis Island spotted the boy with no papers, and sent him right back to Norway on the next boat.

Rolf was far from giving up, and he had learned a lot from his ill-fated first trip to the United States. The next time, he was able to hide his presence more effectively. His second journey was on the Scandinavian America Line: the Frederick VIII. He was old enough and clever enough to convince the immigration officers that he would be a benefit to America and dependent on no one. And he was right: Rolf applied for a job so dangerous that there weren’t a lot of applicants. He was hired as a painter to work on the steel beams of a skyscraper being built on Forty-second Street and Madison Avenue in New York City, a looming edifice that still stands today. Young Neslund walked the beams hundreds of feet above the bustling streets, balancing with ease and unafraid of falling. The fair Norwegian teenager was one of a very few Scandinavians who worked up there in the clouds beside the more traditional steelworkers, who were mostly Italian immigrants and Native Americans.

The money was good, and few could argue that the job wasn’t exciting, but still Rolf wasn’t content. Having had a taste of life on the ocean, he longed to smell the salt spray once more and ride the pitching deck in a storm where the giant waves tossed ships like toys. Rolf was still very young—only seventeen. With World War I looming in Europe since 1913, going to sea wasn’t the safest option, but Rolf had never put safety first. He took the advice of a Swedish sea captain who told him to register with the Norwegian Consulate in New York and to take that opportunity to add a few years to his age. He did that, and gave his birthdate as July 7, 1897. Overnight he was twenty years old, old enough to go to sea. He went down to the docks of New York City, willing to sail on any ship that had a job he could fill. He was soon hired on as a mess boy for the British merchant ship Ganges. In June 1917, he found the shipping line where he would remain for the next twenty-six years: the Luckenbach Steamship Company.

Rolf’s miraculous luck began to reveal itself a year later as he worked as a quartermaster/helmsman on the Harry Luckenbach. Although his ship was torpedoed by a silent, deadly German submarine, and at least eight of his shipmates perished, Rolf survived and somehow made his way to France.

By the time he was really in his early twenties he was exceptionally strong. Soon, he was working on another ship in the Luckenbach line. He continued his steady progress up the ladder, through all the on-deck ranks and, by 1926, to his first command. Rolf Neslund became master of the Robin Goodfellow.

One of the diciest jobs on ships is that of pilot. It requires great skill and natural instinct to guide mammoth vessels from the oceans through narrow waterways leading to city ports where they are loaded and unloaded. Being a ship’s pilot is one of the most prestigious jobs in the shipping industry. After commanding a number of Luckenbach ships on intercoastal routes for ten years, Rolf became a pilot. He was in particular demand to direct vessels in and out of the intricate harbors of Puget Sound.

In 1935, the Puget Sound Pilots’Association was established, a brotherhood of skilled seamen who shared a special camaraderie. Most of them were, like Rolf Neslund, once captains of their own ships. Rolf was one of their earliest members. The association exists today, licensed by the State of Washington and the U.S. Coast Guard with very strict codes of training, experience, skill, and conduct to protect both citizens and natural resources.

Although he was a good-looking man, a fine example of his Norwegian background, it isn’t surprising that Rolf married later in life than most men. He had dropped into many ports and been consumed with his duties, and that left him far too busy to think of marriage, but not too busy to think of women.

He was thirty-four when he married his first wife, Margot,* in 1934. With that marriage, Rolf Neslund began a most complicated round-robin of romantic entanglements. Margot was also a native of Norway, the country where Rolf felt most at home. In 1935, he met her baby sister, Elinor, who was only eleven years old at the time. He scarcely noticed her, but Elinor found him very handsome, a hero larger than life, and she never forgot him. Rolf, of course, was old enough to be her father.

Elinor didn’t see Rolf again for twenty-one years. When they met once more, it was in Seattle in 1956. She was thirty-two, a single mother of two young girls, and he was nearing his middle fifties.

Rolf had had many adventures during the two decades since he’d last seen Elinor. If possible, he was even more heroic and attractive to her.

But he was married to her sister.

Margot and Rolf had never had children. That wasn’t surprising. Initially, he was scarcely around often enough to impregnate his wife. After three years as an independent pilot, Rolf Neslund had again decided that he missed the open sea. The 1940s was not an era in which most men would have chosen to be at sea. There was, of course, a new world war going on, and submarines prowled, silent as sharks, beneath the ocean’s surface. Rolf wasn’t worried; he had been on a ship sunk by a submarine before and emerged safely.

In 1943 he walked up the gangplank as master of the Walter A. Luckenbach. Later that year, Rolf commanded a huge freighter—the Andrea F. Luckenbach—as it traversed the Atlantic Ocean headed out of New York City and bound for Liverpool, England. Upon its arrival in the city that would one day be most famous as the home of the Beatles, Rolf’s ship was called into service as part of the Merchant Marine fleet. The Andrea Luckenbach was ordered to rendezvous with other vessels during the invasion of North Africa.

But that was not to be. The massive ship never made the invasion. Rolf Neslund would have the dubious record for most times torpedoed. The Andrea F. Luckenbach took a hit from a submarine and sank, taking twenty-one of his men to their deaths far below. Although many people were unaware of it, those serving in the Merchant Marine had a higher mortality rate than those in any of the armed forces, losing one out of every twenty men to enemy attacks. But not Rolf Neslund. Once again, he survived unscathed.

Undeterred, Rolf moved to another Luckenbach ship and commanded it and others anywhere he was needed. On one trip from South Africa to Brazil, he and his men saved the entire crew of a company boat that was sunk seventy miles off the Cape of Good Hope.

By the time the war ended in 1945, Rolf was in his mid-forties, still a long way from retirement. He had finally had enough of life on the ocean, however, and became a Puget Sound pilot again. When he finally retired from the Puget Sound Pilots’ Association thirty-four years later he would do so as the oldest—and, arguably, most beloved— member in their history.

Blond and ruddy, Rolf Neslund was a ladies’ man—at least when he was in port long enough to meet women. He looked a great deal like a movie star of the forties: Paul Henreid, the actor most remembered for lighting two cigarettes at once in a three-handkerchief movie entitled Now Voyager. Henreid’s character handed one smoldering cigarette to sloe-eyed Bette Davis in a movie scene considered one of the most romantic of all time. It was the kind of gesture Rolf was capable of, too.

When Rolf wore his captain’s uniform with four gold stripes on his left sleeve, his cap loaded with more gold braid and insignia, he was handsome enough to rival any screen hero. This was the man who had dazzled eleven-year-old Elinor and who fascinated her again as an attractive grown woman.

Rolf Neslund was a man full of the lust for life, one with scores of friends, and he took the time and trouble to keep his friendships alive. For many years, he sent out 550 Christmas cards, painstakingly addressing them himself. He also made sure that elderly friends and relatives had birthday cards each year. Everyone liked him.

•  •  •

Margot Neslund became chronically ill, and Rolf persuaded Elinor to move in with them in their home north of Seattle. Margot needed someone to care for her, and who better than her own sister? Elinor had grown up to become a willowy blonde, quite pretty in a quiet way.

Rolf was a virile man and the forced celibacy that came about because of his wife’s long illness was proving difficult for him. He was in his fifties when Elinor moved into the Neslund home. Rolf was not blind to Elinor’s attractiveness and he saw that she watched him when she didn’t think he was aware of it.

It was probably inevitable that Rolf and Elinor would become intimate, living so close together, each of them longing for passion and sexual fulfillment. Whether Rolf’s wife was aware in the beginning that her sister and her husband were having an affair is questionable. She probably knew and chose to look away. But Elinor took good care of Margot, and the first Mrs. Neslund may have made up her mind to leave things alone and pretend not to see. At least for a time.

By the time Margot Neslund finally realized the affair wasn’t going to end and filed for divorce, Elinor was pregnant, an obvious condition that made it impossible for Margot to rationalize her suspicions away.

While the Neslund divorce was in the works, Elinor held her head up, ignoring the buzz of local gossips. She and Rolf were married in Finland that year—1958—and she gave birth to a son, and named him after his father: Rolf. Two years later, she was pregnant with a second son, Erik. At sixty, Rolf Neslund was the father of two young boys.

Elinor was living temporarily in Norway, and Rolf was often working as a ship’s pilot in one faraway port or another. What Elinor didn’t know—nor, perhaps, did Rolf— was that she and Rolf were not legally married. At the time of their Finnish wedding ceremony, Rolf’s divorce from Margot was not yet final.

Elinor had high hopes for their marriage when Rolf sent for her and little Rolf to come to Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada. She was happy that their second baby would be born there with his father close by.

Rolf bought plane tickets to bring the pregnant Elinor and their little boy to Vancouver, the Canadian city about 140 miles north of Seattle. Many people hoping to emigrate to America go first to Canada because it’s easier to cross its borders.

Elinor was shocked, almost speechless, when Rolf admitted to her that he had learned they weren’t really married. But he quickly explained that he was now divorced from her older sister and he wanted to marry her legally. He had even obtained a Canadian marriage license.

It should have been a rather romantic happy ending— except for the fact that Rolf had yet another woman in his life, someone he had met in Seattle while Elinor was in Norway. Her name was Nettie Ruth Myers, and, like Elinor, she was a generation younger than Rolf.

Outside of her immediate family, she seldom answered to “Nettie,” and preferred to be called “Ruth.” Ruth had a very strong personality and a native cunning that made her much more talented in getting what she wanted than Elinor was.

And what Ruth wanted was Rolf.

Despite Rolf’s denials, Elinor suspected that from the beginning. Ruth was omnipresent in their lives, and when Rolf introduced Ruth to Elinor, he explained that she was a close business associate of his. But Elinor wondered what kind of business that could be, since Rolf cared only about his ships and wasn’t in any way a businessman.

Worse, Elinor, heavily pregnant and feeling unattractive and awkward, was suspicious when Rolf said he had hired Ruth to be a kind of “housekeeper” who would help Elinor until after their baby was born. She didn’t want Ruth around and she didn’t need her, but Ruth moved into their Vancouver house and made herself at home.

Elinor was worried—and she had reason to be. She herself had become intimate with Rolf when she was in his first wife’s home, caring for her own sister. If he had cheated with her, how could she be sure he wouldn’t cheat on her with another woman? The whole plan was too much like the one Elinor had lived through in Seattle; the only thing that would change would be that now Elinor would be Rolf’s wife, and Ruth would be the other woman living in their home. Elinor didn’t care for Ruth at all. Ruth wasn’t friendly and she seemed to wield more power over Rolf than Elinor herself ever had. Ruth did very little housekeeping and she certainly didn’t appear to be doing any business with Rolf. After Elinor gave birth to her second son, Erik, Ruth Myers didn’t leave. In fact, Ruth became even more entrenched in their lives. She gave her opinions very freely on what should have been private matters.

“Once,” Elinor later recalled, “Ruth suggested that I return to Norway and have the children adopted out! It was a very miserable situation for me.”

Elinor wouldn’t think of giving up her boys. She loved Rolf and Eric; they were Rolf’s natural sons. And Rolf seemed to care for Elinor and the little boys. Still, however outrageous Ruth’s remarks were, Rolf never asked Ruth to move out.

It was a stressful time—two women, each of whom wanted to marry the man they shared a house with. It was a standoff, but neither woman gave up.

•  •  •

In 1961, Rolf obtained another Canadian wedding license, and told Elinor that he really did want to marry her. It seemed that Elinor had won her man back. But there was much more than a slight hitch in his plan to marry her. To Elinor’s horror, Rolf confessed that he was already married to Ruth Myers, and had been for months.

That didn’t mean, he said with truly flawed reasoning, that he couldn’t marry Elinor, too!

“I was so suspicious of their relationship all along,” Elinor said. “When I found out that they were married, I knew I didn’t want to marry him again.”

Rolf assured Elinor that he’d had no choice but to marry Ruth. It wasn’t that he loved her, but she had threatened to expose him—and told him that Elinor would, too. He wanted to stay in America, his adopted country, but Ruth lied and said that Elinor was threatening to turn him over to immigration authorities for fraud.

“Ruth says you’re going to tell them about how I lied about my age way back when I stowed away on the ships from Norway,” he told Elinor. “She said they’ll deport me for that.”

“I wouldn’t do that,” Elinor breathed. “How could you believe I would betray you?”

But Ruth’s psychological manipulation had made Rolf paranoid about what might happen if Elinor ever got angry with him. Ruth had succeeded in convincing Rolf that the only way he could feel secure about staying in America would be for him to marry a native-born U.S. citizen. Ruth was an American citizen, born in the heart of America in Illinois. If Rolf married her, he could not be deported.

And Ruth, of course, was prepared to provide him with that safety net. She herself would marry him.

Ruth convinced Rolf to marry her in a quiet ceremony on April 24, 1961. He was sixty-two and she was forty-one. And, of course, that legal marriage meant that he could not marry Elinor. Ruth made sure of that.

“Why didn’t you ask me about this sooner?” Elinor gasped. “I would never have done that to you.” She assured him that Ruth had been lying to him.

But it was too late. Even though Rolf kept proclaiming his love for the Norwegian beauty who was twenty-five years younger than he was, he continually gave in to what Ruth wanted. It was almost as if Ruth had hypnotized him.

Ultimately, Elinor refused to go through with a second sham marriage, and stepped aside, her dreams in ashes. Rolf and Ruth were already married to one another, and there was nothing Elinor could do about that.

Although Ruth scoffed at the idea for years, there is ample evidence that Elinor still loved Rolf and that he cared deeply for her, continuing to visit her and their sons while she remained in Vancouver. It is likely that their forbidden romance continued for decades, but they could never marry. Their route to the altar had met with one blockade after another, the vast majority of them erected by Nettie Ruth Myers.

Rolf wanted to live in America, but he told Ruth he would never cut his ties to Norway and to his brothers and sister there. And he told Elinor he would never forget her or his two sons.



Two

Rolf and Ruth moved back to Washington State. Now that she was married to him, she didn’t want him to have anything to do with Elinor, Rolf Junior, or Erik. She kept tabs on him to be sure he wasn’t giving Elinor money to live on. He was giving them money, though, and most of the time Ruth didn’t know. When she discovered from time to time that he was helping Elinor out, she was angry. Once she found a greeting card he planned to send to Elinor and it had five hundred in it. Ruth was furious.

How on earth had Rolf Neslund, essentially committed to Elinor Ekenes, become so intimately involved with the woman who was now his wife?

Theirs was a chance meeting, but Ruth had taken it from there. In the late 1950s, Ruth Myers worked for an insurance agency in Seattle. She had planned to have lunch with a man whose offices were in the Smith Tower, but her lunch date was canceled. Fate then placed her on an elevator in the building just as Rolf Neslund stepped in. She often recalled that she was instantly attracted to him. He had a full head of iron-gray hair and a classic jawline, and carried himself like a much younger man. Before Rolf got off that elevator, Ruth first made sure that she knew his name and that he knew hers and how to get in touch with her. And then she asked him out to lunch, boldly showing her interest in him. Flattered, he accepted.

“She saw Rolf,” Deputy Ray Clever of the San Juan County Sheriff’s Office said many years later, “and she decided she wanted to have him.”

Even though Rolf Neslund was a generation older than the forty-one-year-old Ruth, that didn’t daunt her. He was an undeniably handsome man who led an active life. She was even more interested in him when she learned he made good money as a pilot on Puget Sound, and he was not without means. Ruth’s hardscrabble background had taught her to appreciate a man who could provide her with a comfortable life. But at first it wasn’t money or security on Ruth’s mind. She wanted him as a lover.

Ruth could probably have made a fortune teaching a course on how to enchant a man. Nettie Ruth Myers was not a great beauty, but she had a pleasantly curving figure and she was a lot of fun. She had a full face with a sharp chin, a somewhat bulbous nose, and tightly permed hair and she wore glasses with lenses so wide that her eyes sometimes took on an owlish cast. Even though she was no Lana Turner, Ruth had something more important than sheer physical beauty. She knew how to interest a man and how to please him. She had had to perfect that particular talent to lift herself out of the poverty of her youth. Perhaps, most of all, it was her forte as a consummate actress that helped her get what she wanted. Throughout her life, Ruth was able to be whatever she sensed people wanted her to be—seductive, sweet, cozy and comfy, sharp in business deals, stubborn, controlling, or compliant. And she would always have both her detractors and her supporters, some who declared she was the devil and others who swore she was an angel on earth.

•  •  •

Nettie Ruth Myers started her life in the Midwest. She was born on February 8, 1920, in Beardstown, Illinois, about fifty miles northwest of Springfield, a small town in Cass County with just a few thousand residents. It was hard by the Illinois River and the site of the Lincoln Courthouse and Museum, but it wasn’t the kind of town where young people tended to stay. Most of them grew up and moved away to bigger cities where salaries were higher and there was more to do.

Life itself was a challenge for Nettie Ruth. There were ten children in her family—some born in Ohio and some in Illinois: Mamie, Mary, Robert, Walter, Asa, Paula, Carl, Enoch, Paul, and, finally, Nettie Ruth. Some of them remained in the Ohio and Illinois area, but most moved to places as far-flung as Biloxi, Mississippi, Rockaway, Oregon, and Los Angeles, California.

One of Ruth’s siblings didn’t live to adulthood. Like most families whose children were born in the early part of the twentieth century, the Myerses lost a baby: Enoch. He died at the age of one year. Another brother simply disappeared. Carl Myers walked away from his family home during World War I.

“He left home and never came back,” Ruth recalled. “He was just—he just went missing. [They] sent his trunk back and all of his possessions. That was in 1919. We don’t know whether he’s dead.”

Ruth and her brother Paul were the youngest of the Myers children; she was the youngest girl and he was the last boy to be born. Ruth explained that their positions in the family birth order had made them quite close.

Ruth left the Midwest for Louisiana and moved in with a man named Morris Daniels when she was in her midteens. She had her first child a year later: Morris Daniels, Jr. Warren “Butch” Daniels was born when she was twenty. Whether she raised her boys from infancy to maturity isn’t known. They were in their twenties by the time Ruth met Rolf in Seattle. It’s quite possible that she had left them behind for their father to raise; as grown men, they still lived in Louisiana while their mother was in Washington State. Still, as adults, her sons—particularly Butch—were steadfast in their allegiance to her and she was in close touch with them.

Ruth had relatives all over America. Surprisingly, she managed to keep in touch with many of her siblings. She would often say how much she loved her family, and how—as she grew older—she realized the importance of having a family you could count on.

Unfortunately, when Ruth met Rolf Neslund, her mother was dead. Some members of the Myers family whispered that Ruth was responsible for that.

Even though her mother lived in Illinois and was elderly, Ruth had managed to write a life insurance policy on her through the Seattle company Ruth worked for. Not too long after, her mother became ill. When Ruth learned that her mother had been hospitalized back in her home state, she rushed to her side. Ruth soon managed to convince her mother’s doctors that she could take much better care of her at home. As it turned out, she could not— or did not. Some of Ruth’s sisters claimed that she deliberately fed their mother the very foods that the doctors had put on her forbidden list. The elderly woman died shortly thereafter.

“Ruth was the beneficiary of our mother’s insurance,” a relative sniffed in derision. “She collected her money, and when anyone said anything to her about how she gave in to Mom’s cravings for sugar and all, Ruth just said, ‘Well, she was going to die anyway. . . .’”

Her sisters may only have been jealous; Ruth was already a lot better off financially than most of her siblings were.

Her mother’s insurance payoff wasn’t much of a windfall, but Ruth was very good with money. At the time she met Rolf, she was buying the small house she lived in in Everett, Washington, twenty-six miles north of Seattle. She paid five thousand dollars for her little house. This was in an era in Washington State when a newly built three-bedroom house could be purchased for about ten thousand dollars. After Ruth met Rolf, she sold her bungalow for a few thousand more than she paid for it. She also owned a vacant lot near Paine Field. The real estate boom in the area was some years away, and her houses and lots were excellent investments.

With his wanderlust, Rolf had never cared much about owning real estate, and, planning to reunite with Elinor, he had been living in a cheap apartment about ten miles south of Ruth’s place when he met her.

Whatever his true feelings were for Elinor Ekenes and the two small boys who were almost certainly his sons, Rolf Neslund was quickly bewitched by Ruth, and seemed to enjoy being married to her. They were not a young couple, but they appeared to get along with each other—once Elinor was essentially out of the picture. Most people who knew them thought it would be fine if they ended up together, living out the rest of their years in a companionable way rather than with a wild sex life. But their age belied the very real attraction that sizzled between them. Ruth wanted Rolf, and he had come to want her—a lot. Initially, there was probably more sexual electricity there than anyone suspected. And they had much in common: Both of them had colorful pasts marked by poverty in their early years, a history of numerous other relationships, extensive travel, and, particularly in Rolf’s case, near-death experiences.

Despite her many relatives around the country, Ruth had been basically alone when she met Rolf. But she wasn’t a helpless single woman or anyone to be pitied. Although she had very little formal schooling, she was highly intelligent. She was most adept at arithmetic, and kept perfect records, even when she didn’t have much to keep records about. It was probably predictable that she sought some permanency in her life. Her ambition was to own a great deal of property, to have something solid that belonged to her, something she could see. She could certainly see Rolf, and he had an air of confidence and stability about him. He didn’t dress like a rich man, but she had quickly ferreted out that his pilot’s position made him well off. And he planned to work for many more years.

Rolf had been something of a barterer, trading goods for service, and he owned some oil stock that had impressive-looking certificates, but he wasn’t nearly as interested as Ruth was in making money. After he ran off to sea, Rolf’s family in Norway had built a thriving shipping business. His mother had left her estate to him and his three siblings, and he had about nine thousand (American) dollars in a Norwegian bank. Rolf was quite willing to let Ruth keep the books and look around for property to buy. She called herself a “horse trader,” and he was impressed with her business sense.

The Neslunds soon moved off the mainland of Washington State. After looking at property, they settled on Lopez Island, one of four rocky outcroppings that make up the San Juan Islands: San Juan, Orcas, Shaw, and Lopez. Islands adrift in the Strait of Juan de Fuca some eighty-five miles northwest of Seattle, all of them astoundingly beautiful places to live.

•  •  •

Forty-five years ago, there wasn’t much going on in the San Juans except for the promise of serenity, more sunshine than the rest of Washington State, and the feeling of being part of a community where people knew and cared about one another. Even twenty years ago, there weren’t more than twelve hundred people living on Lopez Island. There was virtually no felony crime, and murders were extremely rare.

But progress, for better or worse, was edging into the San Juans. Tourists were beginning to discover the tranquil forests, gently rolling meadows, and vistas of the sea from countless miles of shoreline. Quaint shops and restaurants attracted visitors, and a number of artists and writers were drawn to the islands.

Bestselling thriller writer John Saul built one of his many homes on the edge of a cliff on Lopez Island, next to where his parents had lived for years. Writer Charlotte Paul lived there. Actor Tom Skerritt and his wife resided on Lopez whenever they could get away from Hollywood, and later on, they opened up a bed-and-breakfast. Richard Bach, author of Jonathan Livingston Seagull, took up residence on nearby Orcas Island. A number of familiar faces from Hollywood vacationed there. In the San Juans, they were all just part of the community, and not celebrities to be pointed out or stalked. The area was an oasis from a world that moved too fast.

Lopez was a particularly friendly island. It was the custom there to wave to anyone you passed on the road— friend or stranger.

Unlike the well-known people who moved to the San Juan Islands, the Neslunds were far from famous or sought after, but like them, enjoyed the serenity and peace. In 1974, they bought a 7.2-acre plot of land with an old house on it on Alec Bay Road, on the south end of Lopez. The next year, the house mysteriously burned to the ground. With the insurance money, Ruth designed and built a five-thousand-square-foot home, one of the largest on Lopez. An almost hidden dirt road led to the backyard of their barn red rambler, while the front windows looked out on Alec Bay. They fenced in meadows on either side to make pastures for sheep and cattle.

Ruth handled it all. She wrote the checks that chipped away at their mortgage with payments of $152.00 each month, only occasionally falling behind. She always managed to catch up on mortgage payments and taxes just in time to keep them from losing their property. She knew it was a canny real estate investment; by 1981, one estimated appraisal of their house and land was an almost unbelievable five hundred thousand dollars. By that time, Ruth had whittled their mortgage down to only sixty-five hundred dollars. She knew all about how compound interest could build a fortune, and she always deliberately waited five years to pay their taxes because she knew she could use that money in ways that brought in more in interest than she lost in penalties.

Early on, the Neslunds established a pattern where Rolf turned his pilot’s salary over to Ruth, and she wrote all the checks to pay bills. He preferred to handle cash only.

To be sure he always had spending money, Ruth kept cash on hand in a dresser drawer. Sometimes, it was twenty dollars; sometimes it was fifteen hundred. “Whenever he needed money,” she said fondly, “he would tell me and I would go and get him some. I always wanted him to have the cash he needed.”

In November 1962, a year and a half after their marriage, Rolf wrote his last will and testament. He left virtually everything to his new bride, with apparently no provision for his sons or their mother. Ruth kept the will in a strongbox in their home.

A few years later, on May 27, 1965, the couple signed a “boilerplate” form Ruth had purchased at a stationery store. It was very simple: They filled in the spaces that showed they agreed that if one of them should die all of their holdings were to be considered community property and go directly to the survivor. They had a notary public validate their signatures, and they filed the agreement at the courthouse the next day.

What belonged to him would be hers, and what belonged to Ruth would be Rolf’s. Their signatures each had large, sweeping capital letters at the beginning, although Rolf’s writing was a bit more flamboyant than his wife’s. A graphologist would probably say that they were both confident—and even dominant—personality types.

Ruth decorated their large home in the style of the 1960s and seventies, buying plush, velvety furniture in shades of brown and gold that blended perfectly against wood-paneled walls. The carpeting was mocha shag piling, with a pattern of darker colors sprinkled across it. Her lamps and knickknacks were much more feminine than anything Rolf would have chosen, the end tables draped with starched and embroidered white linen, the matching lamps with either ivory globes or marble bases. As almost every woman crafter did in that era, Ruth crocheted afghans in the ubiquitous zigzag pattern of orange, brown, and white.

The Neslunds’ native stone fireplace with its thick wood mantel held a chiming Seth Thomas clock, and their walls were hung with numerous paintings, some of the ocean, some of flowers, some with big-eyed children.

Ruth collected and resold antiques, but her favorites were the parlor furniture which had once belonged to Rolf’s mother in Norway.

“I took it all apart,” Ruth recalled. “It came over on a ship and it was pretty well fractured. I restored the wood, braced it, glued it, and reupholstered it. [There’s] a little love seat with four parlor chairs. That’s not for sale.”

Rolf was a man of the sea, his very blood seemingly infused with salt water, and on Lopez the smell and sight of the sea was everywhere. Still, it was nice for him to come home from standing against the icy winds on the bridge and riding the troughs and peaks of storm-tossed waves, pleasant to share his evenings with Ruth.

She tended a big vegetable garden and strawberry patch, and either froze or canned what they didn’t eat during growing season. In a good strawberry year, Ruth sometimes had a stall over in Anacortes where she sold berries to people waiting for a ferry. She was a pretty fair cook and joined Rolf in a drink or two before dinner.

Theirs was an idyllic life, or so it seemed to those who knew them.

•  •  •

Northwest islanders are a different breed, content to be far away from city traffic and problems. Their lives revolve around the arrival and departure of the ferries that come and go each day, bringing in supplies and visitors, taking residents off-island when they have business in Seattle or Bellingham or Vancouver, British Columbia. Lopez Island is almost as close to Canada as it is to the mainland of Washington State, a fairly self-sufficient community caught between two countries. The island certainly proved to be the perfect place for Rolf and Ruth.

They made friends on Lopez, and Rolf had a large circle of friends among the other pilots in the Puget Sound Pilots’ Association, so the Neslunds had ample opportunity to socialize. The ship pilots were an extremely tight-knit group, as loyal to one another as any military men who have fought wars together. They took care of their own, and Rolf Neslund was definitely one of their own.

As it turned out, Rolf would work as a pilot for eighteen years after their marriage, but Ruth never felt alone; she had neighbors she could count on. Through the early years of their marriage, it seemed that the couple had made a good match. Rolf was gone quite a bit and Ruth had her friends on the island to have coffee with, or to invite in for supper. She had her garden, of course, and she was always looking for antiques or other items she could refurbish or resell.

She continued to look around for reasonably priced pieces of real estate. Rolf didn’t care much about real estate investments, but he wasn’t against putting his money to work—as long as Ruth took care of all the paperwork, and saw that payments were made.

One drawback, perhaps, to living on an isolated island with a small population was that everyone knew your business; there were very few secrets. If married couples had loud arguments, details of the encounters soon spread. When somebody got drunk in a bar or even at home, people knew. Actually, there were only two public places to drink on Lopez: the Islander-Lopez or the Galley. They were close together, and lots of rumors passed back and forth.

Ruth and Rolf had their share of arguments over the years. What they argued about was not initially obvious, although it would become more so as the years passed: It was almost always about Elinor. Oddly, Ruth would always deny that she knew precisely what Rolf’s relationship with Elinor Ekenes had been. She insisted that she and Rolf never really spoke of Elinor, and she was vague and uninterested in talking about the situation. But everyone knew that Ruth frowned whenever she heard Elinor’s name. It was apparent to close observers that she knew more than she would say about Rolf and Elinor. Indeed, she remained terribly jealous of Elinor, and believed that Rolf was still carrying on with her—even after she and Rolf had been married for two decades.

Over the years, Ruth had deftly rearranged the truth to her own satisfaction. She maintained that Rolf had never spoken to her of any affair with his late wife’s sister, and he certainly never told her that Rolf and Erik Ekenes were his sons. She said she had never asked him about the boys directly.

She insisted that she knew very little about the boys: They lived in Vancouver, British Columbia—a whole other country, albeit only a short distance by sea from the San Juan Islands. She was lying, of course, but her friends believed she only fibbed to save face.

The truth was that Ruth had met Elinor in Vancouver in 1960 or 1961, and of course she actually lived in the same house with Elinor and Rolf. Ruth knew the facts of the whole situation, but she chose to pretend she didn’t.

This was pretty hard for neighbors to believe since Elinor’s sons sometimes came to Lopez Island to spend part of their vacations at the Neslund home on Alec Bay. Ruth allowed them to visit at the Neslund home in the summer.

Public records indicate that she had been forced to deal with the facts about Rolf’s young sons a year or two after she married him. Elinor had filed a paternity suit in North Vancouver, British Columbia, claiming Rolf was her sons’ father, and that he should be supporting them.

Rolf was ordered by the court to support young Rolf and Erik, and he actually did that until 1970, when they became beneficiaries of his Social Security dependents’ benefits. Ruth wrote the checks in the family, and it must have been galling for her to see the bank accounts that were so important to her lowered by the needs of the boys, constant reminders of Rolf’s affair with Elinor.

Even though Rolf would have had to notify Social Security offices in 1970 and verify that Rolf and Erik were his sons for them to collect from his account, Ruth was still adamant that she didn’t know that firsthand. “I don’t know anything about it,” she said flatly. “I’m pretty sure that he [Rolf] signed every document that their mother put in front of him.”

While Ruth denied that she knew anything at all about the boys purported to be her husband’s children, the rest of her memory was impeccable. She recalled every single financial deal she had ever been involved in. Her mind was like a big steel filing cabinet, full of details that proved her business acumen.

The Neslunds never had children together, possibly because Ruth was in her forties when they married. But she kept in touch with about a dozen of her nieces and nephews and was very close to her niece Donna, who was a frequent visitor in Ruth and Rolf’s home. Ruth was something of a surrogate mother to her. Ruth claimed that Donna didn’t like her own mother, Ruth’s older sister Mamie, and that she was trying to effect a reconciliation. In the meantime, she welcomed Donna into her home. And so did Rolf.

•  •  •

The first ten years of the Neslunds’ marriage passed quietly, and they weren’t at all newsworthy. They were simply an older couple living in a very nice home set far back off the road in a sheltered cove of Lopez Island.

But over the next decade, their relationship took an ominously violent turn.



Three

Financially, the Neslunds had done extremely well as they approached their twentieth wedding anniversary. Rolf had his salary, and Ruth’s dabblings in real estate were paying off. She acquired two lots in Port Townsend, and two more in Anacortes, the first city on the mainland where ferries from the islands docked. The Anacortes lots had come about in trade for a high-powered boat engine Rolf owned.

“Rolf did it,” she said, proudly. “Sight unseen by both parties.”

The early building lots Ruth bought cost no more than $800 originally, and she didn’t make a huge profit on them. But by the late seventies, she was much more savvy. On one day in May, she bought two lots for a total of $18,000 and turned them around in two months, selling them for a $4,400 profit. She bought another in Bellingham for $3,000, knowing she could sell it the next day for more than double that. She usually had her buyers lined up before she purchased the properties; she didn’t even have to use her own money in the purchases: That came out of her profit.

While she was paying off the mortgage on the Alec Bay house, Ruth began collecting cars and other valuables: a motor home, a Dodge van, a classic 1966 Mustang, a Lincoln Continental, an Oldsmobile convertible, farm trailers and boat trailers, a twenty-eight-foot cabin cruiser, Duncan Phyfe tables and other antiques, a coin collection, silver flatware. She registered the cars illegally in Louisiana, “because it was cheaper there,” and used an ambiguous “R. Neslund” as the name of the registered owner, which could have been either Ruth or Rolf.

Ruth acquired horses, buggies, and more houses on Lopez Island itself, and sold them on contract with 12 percent interest coming to her. Without striving to remember, she could tally up every single asset she had, how much she owed, how much was owed her—at what interest— and she never had to glance at notes. She knew how much was in each of many bank accounts.

When Rolf retired, he would receive a pension of $1,800 each month from the Puget Sound Pilots.

They were doing very well indeed.

But that was on the business side of their union.

•  •  •

Over the years, Ruth and Rolf Neslund extended their evening cocktail hours further and further into the night. And when they drank, they fought. Their midmarriage arguments had long since exacerbated to ugly episodes. What had begun as grumbling and sniping at one another soon became angry words and insults. At a certain point, they began to actually exchange physical blows. They scratched, hit, bruised, and even bit one another.

Once, Ruth claimed to San Juan County sheriff’s deputies Greg Doss and Joe Caputo, Rolf actually forced her head into the kitchen stove’s oven. What he intended to do next was a question. Turning on the gas wouldn’t work, and she was far too plump for him to push her all the way in and roast her as the Wicked Witch threatened to do to Hansel and Gretel.

Ruth told Caputo that she had been seeing to a roasting chicken in the oven when Rolf leaned on her shoulders and pushed her arms against the hot grill. She held her arms up quickly and showed him the “burn marks.” Caputo wasn’t sure if she was really burned, or if the oven racks were dirty, leaving grease marks on her lower arms.

It was just drunken stuff, but disturbing nonetheless.

Usually, the Neslunds had had so much to drink that they couldn’t even remember the details of their fights. They would waken in the morning and be shocked by their own reflections in the mirror. Ruth looked haggard, and Rolf often had dried blood on his face, deep scratches, black eyes and bruises, bite marks, bald spots where hair had been pulled out, and other wounds from their violent domestic battles.

Sometimes, Ruth would run away from Rolf and lock herself in the little bunkhouse behind their home while Rolf slept it off. She claimed to have been terrorized, but, in truth, she gave as good as she got. Perhaps even better.

Ruth’s plans for gracious entertaining and lovely dinner parties for their friends usually ended disastrously. The facade she tried to present is reminiscent of the character “Hyacinth” on the popular British comedy show, Keeping Up Appearances. Hyacinth’s “candle-light suppers,” meant to be her open door into high society, never quite succeed—and neither did Ruth Neslund’s. Both the TV character and the real woman had fine china, floral arrangements, silver, and linens—but the women themselves lacked the charm and civility to carry these social evenings off. Many of the Neslunds’ longtime friends began to find excuses to decline Ruth’s invitations.

One couple on Lopez Island would recall an evening with the Neslunds. The food was wonderful, and everything went well until the liquor began to flow and one of their hosts took offense at some remark the other made. Soon, the guests were forgotten and the meal was over as Ruth and Rolf battled with each other. Their company watched, stunned, and then tiptoed out.

“Ruth called me the next day,” the wife of the guest couple remembered, “and I could tell she felt so bad. She apologized over and over for the way her dinner ended. I could tell she was terribly disappointed—and humiliated, too. She asked us to give her another chance, swearing that it would never happen again.”

At length, the guests agreed to return for another meal with the Neslunds. Again, the table setting was perfect and the food was even better. But Ruth and Rolf could not seem to get through an evening without a fight, and the after-dinner “entertainment” was a repeat of what had happened before.

Gossip about the failed dinner parties soon spread around Lopez Island, and those who considered themselves comedians added to it. Dining at the Neslunds’ home became a joke, and both career authors and other residents who lived on the island wrote hilarious, long poems or fashioned elaborate stories about them.

In a way, it was sad that a couple who had been together for so long should come to be a laughingstock. In between their arguments, though, the Neslunds appeared to be happy enough. There are couples who seem to enjoy fighting and making up as much as they do making love—who actually use arguments as foreplay. Maybe the Neslunds fell in that category.

They didn’t live close enough to their neighbors that their shouting carried through the woods, so no one cared very much. They were peculiar, but there were lots of “peculiars” in the islands and they were all accepted by the natives. The Neslunds had the right to do what they wanted.

•  •  •

Although he was in his eighth decade, Rolf Neslund had no intention of retiring. He was one of the most dependable ships’ pilots around.

He was well past his seventy-fifth birthday when the United States Coast Guard renewed his license on November 3, 1975, for five more years.

TO U.S. MERCHANT MARINE OFFICER
This is to certify that Rolf Neslund, having been duly examined and found competent by the undersigned, is licensed to serve as Master of Steam or Motor Vessels of any gross tons upon oceans; radar observer; also First Class Pilot of New York Bay and Harbor to Yonkers; Boston Light Vessel to Boston, Via North and Narrows Channels; Nantucket and Vineyard Sounds; Delaware Bay and River to Philadelphia, Pa; Los Angeles Harbor to Wilmington; San Francisco Bay and Return; Columbia River, Astoria, Oregon to Sea and Return; and on Puget Sound and Connecting Inland Waters for the term of five years from this date.

For nearly three more years, Rolf Neslund was considered to be fully capable of maneuvering huge ships from coast to coast and on the Atlantic and Pacific. He had every reason to be proud of his prowess, and, indeed, he was. The young boy who had stowed away in Norway to make his way to America had more than proved himself.

If Rolf had his way, he intended to work until he died at the helm of a ship. And he came close to doing just that. But he would soon have both his reputation and his physical body threatened by a cataclysmic event. Rolf would become, if not “famous,” then infamous in the annals of shipping in the Northwest—long after most men would have retired.

On June 11, 1978, Rolf was either seventy-eight or eighty-one—depending on which of his birthdates you believed. He was healthy and he loved his job and the camaraderie he shared with other members of the Puget Sound Pilots’ Association. He was an institution, a grand old man who was much admired by far younger members. Everybody liked him, and he was in the midst of life when most men his age were sitting beside their fireplaces, or on a patio in Arizona.

He and Ruth had their fine home that was almost paid for, and, despite their violent domestic issues from time to time, their marriage had survived for seventeen years. Survived, perhaps, but no one could say it was exactly thriving.

Amazingly, Ruth was still jealous of Elinor, and continued to suspect that Rolf was sneaking away to meet with her for who knew what kind of carrying on.

While it was true that Rolf and Elinor had never really lost touch with one another, it’s doubtful that at this point there was anything even slightly illicit between them. They were close friends, and Rolf loved the two sons they shared. Over the years, he made many trips to his homeland in Norway, and if Elinor was there when he was, they saw each other. He still sent her money behind Ruth’s back from time to time.

In early 1978, Rolf finally decided to put in for his pension. By the end of the summer, he planned to say goodbye to the ships and his piloting duties, and return to Lopez Island for good.

But then something shocking happened that no one who knew Rolf Neslund would ever have predicted. This extremely careful and canny pilot destroyed one of the most important bridges in a city so surrounded by waterways that every bridge is vital to the orderly passage of traffic.

•  •  •

When the first pioneers arrived in what would one day be the great city of Seattle, they settled on Alki Point. Many years hence, the waterfront land they called “New York Alki” (Chinook tribal jargon for “bye and bye”) was to become “West Seattle.”

Back then on November 13, 1851, the Denny Party, including Arthur A. Denny, Charles Terry, and other famous pioneer families, suffered through a bitter cold and rainy winter with only jerry-rigged shelters. Their wives sobbed with homesickness and their children sickened. No one could ever have convinced those first settlers that West Seattle would one day become a most desirable place to live for the working men and women who commuted to downtown Seattle.

Seattle is landlocked to the north and to the south, with Lake Washington on the east and Puget Sound and Elliot Bay on the west. Its destiny has always been dependent on waterways.

The Duwamish River Waterway separates West Seattle from the main part of the city. This is a comparatively narrow ribbon of water, just wide enough to make it impossible for West Seattle dwellers to reach Seattle without crossing a bridge or taking a ferry. Without a drawbridge, commuters would have to drive south, east, and north again—almost twenty miles out of their way—to get to work, go to the downtown theaters, hospitals, sports events, and other important sites in the heart of Seattle.

In 1978, the West Seattle Bridge was certainly in need of refurbishing. Back in 1924, the first of two bascule-designed bridges over the Duwamish Waterway was completed—the ultimate in modern construction at that time. An identical span opened in 1930. Forty-eight years later, the old bridge sorely needed replacement. It was barely serviceable enough, though, until bonds in the amount of $150 million were voted in to pay for a new, higher, pivot-wing bridge.

At least it was until the dawn of June 11.

Rolf Neslund was serving as the pilot of the vessel Chavez, a forty-ton, 550-foot ship capable of holding twenty thousand tons of gypsum rock. He stood on the ship’s bridge as it idled near Duwamish Head. He had successfully guided the Chavez to that point from the Pacific Ocean, and then into Elliot Bay, something he had done scores of times.

Everything seemed normal.

It was only ten days from the longest day of the year, and the dawn of day was still just hidden behind the mountains to the east, so it was dark and warm as they headed toward the loading area. A good morning to be at sea. Armed with the confidence born of all he had survived in his tussles with oceans and rivers, Rolf Neslund believed in himself, and in his almost mystical grasp of what it took to get a ship to do what he wanted. With his wide-planted feet, he felt the Chavez’s heart rumbling and beating through the decks, and he knew all the sounds and the smells and the shifts that meant he was right on target.

Two tugboats began to move into their slot so they could help bring the huge ship from the wide waters to the north into the narrow slice that is the Duwamish’s West Waterway. Neslund, the old pilot, would call out the commands to keep the Chavez straight and true in an almost impossibly tight and shallow river which local industrial waste had turned the color of lead. The West Seattle Bridge’s drawspan was up and waiting.

Later, there were those who came forward to say Rolf was getting a little vague and that sometimes he didn’t pay as much attention as he should. He knew they were wrong. It was true that he didn’t like modern tools like radios and other electronic devices used by the young pilots; he was like an old cowboy who knew how to control a bucking horse or an angry steer. He sensed in his bones what was right, and he would give his orders to the helmsman without using the portable radio.

As the ship’s pilot, Rolf Neslund was the top man in navigating the Chavez safely into port. From the moment the pilots board the big ships, they instruct everyone from the ship’s crew—including the captain—to the longshoremen who man the lines and the tugboat crew on what to do and when. Visibility, storms, ferryboats, and docked ships can all make a pilot’s job more difficult. On this night, the tugboats needed to pull the Chavez to the left because there was another ship on the right—an ancient freighter waiting to be dismantled and recycled partially blocked the already-tight route.

This was a dicey route, and seconds counted as the Chavez moved through the waterway. Men aboard a Coast Guard boat on traffic duty watched the massive ship warily.

The Coast Guard officers called Rolf on the portable radio and got no answer. The reason was simple. Rolf Neslund had turned the damned thing off.

In the hierarchy of the sea, Rolf was in charge. No one else on the ship could countermand his orders, and it was a heady feeling, as it always had been—whether he was the captain or the pilot. He ordered the helmsman to turn to port (left) and they slid by the no-longer-seaworthy freighter.

And, then, for some inexplicable reason, the old man had a spate of forgetfulness, possibly even a small stroke—a TIA (transitory ischemic attack)—something that made him lose precious seconds of awareness. The West Seattle Bridge lay ahead, its red lights blinking to warn drivers that the barricades were coming down. Its alarm bells were harsh in the soft darkness. Cars that looked like toys lined up obediently at the edges of the huge bridge, held back by the safety arms.

For those precious instants, Rolf Neslund apparently forgot that he was the pilot in charge, neglecting to notice that he had not ordered the seaman at the helm to turn back starboard (right) and then to straighten it out.

The Chavez’s captain, a citizen of Yugoslavia who had an impeccable safety record, suddenly realizing they were in trouble, raced to the wheelhouse, shouting “Hard-a-starboard!” And then he desperately ordered the man at the wheel to put the huge ship into reverse.

They were headed straight for the West Seattle Bridge’s east support piers at a speed of nearly six knots.

At that point, Rolf snapped back to alertness and realized the danger, too. He stumbled toward the wheelhouse to repeat the same order the captain had just given. The only thing they could possibly do to stop—or even slow— the Chavez was to drop the anchors. But that maneuver wasn’t likely to work because the ship’s path was already committed. From his long, long experience, Rolf knew that there were huge cables carrying power and phone lines to homes and businesses on either side of the bridge span below. If they dropped the anchors, they would cut underwater cables which were as thick as a man is tall.

It was far too late to do anything but stand on the Chavez and wait for what was about to happen. It only took ten or twenty seconds, seconds when the tugboat captain of the Carole Foss frantically did what he could to keep his crew from being crushed between the ship and the bridge piers or decapitated by wires, ropes, or knifelike slivers of shattered steel from the bridge.

And then, inevitably, the Chavez sliced into the bridge as if the span’s supports were made of butter. There was a tremendous shudder and a sound like an earthquake as the force of the impact exploded, sending steel and concrete and wood, and everything else that made the West Seattle Bridge strong, into the river and its shores.

It was quite possible now that the whole structure would fall down upon those who watched, almost stupefied with shock. Everything was suspended for seconds that seemed hours. The ruined bridge could easily plunge into the sudden abyss: the cars and their drivers and passengers, the bridge tender in his little house, all of it.
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